MIDDLE-EARTH: DARK MINIONS™

Thisinsertprovidesexplanationrulesandclarificationsfor usewith all Middle-earthCollectableCard
Gamé"(MECCG)products.

Note: For a copy of theserulesin largertypewith moreexamplessendarequestinda self-addresseq,
stampecernvelopeto ICE, PO.Box 1605,Charlottesvile VA, 22903.Alternatively, visit ourhomepage]
onthe WWW (http://www.ironcronn.com).
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CREATURES AS AUTOMATIC-ATTACKS

Minion Cards (Clarification)

MEDM includesminion cards-anew type of cardwith a new type of template-thédackgrounds iron with
a“rusted” purpletint. In MEDM, minionsareusedashazardsalledagents An agentis ahazardhat
representanindividual thathasbeensenton a covert missionby the Dark-lord or oneof his Dark
LieutenantsHowever, notall agentsareminions. Thetwo agenton the normalhazardemplateare
“non-Minion agents:"My PreciousandLobeliaSadkville Baggins.

The concepiof minionsusedin anon-agenfashionwill beintroducedn Middle-earth: TheLidlessEy€e"
(astand-alonexpansiondueoutin the Springof 1997).In TheLidlessEye minionswill beusedlike
charactershut eachminionwill beundertheinfluenceof oneof Saurons Dark Lieutenants.



Permanent-events(Clarification)

If oneof your companiesplitsinto two or morecompaniesyou may placeary resource
permanent-gentsthatwereon the original compaly (asawhole)with ary of theresultingcompanies.
Someeventsof this type mustbe discardedasspecifiedwhenacompaly splits(e.g.,Fellowship.
You maynot make aninfluenceattempton anitemwith apermaneneventonit.

Placementof cards “off to the side” (Clarification)

Certaincardsandeffectsrequireothercardsbe placed‘off to the side” (for example,Sacrificeof Form
from Middle-earth: TheWzards™). Cardsplacedoff to the sideareplacedon the playing surfaceoff to
the sideof the normalareaof play. Suchcardsarekeptwith their hostpermanent-eentthatcausedhis
effect. Any cardplacedoff to the sideabsolutelycannotbe targetedor otherwiseaffectedby thegame
exceptby cardsthatspecificallyaffect cardsplaced‘off to theside”

Cardsplacedoff to thesidearein play for the purpose®f uniquenessUnlessstatedotherwisewhena
hostpermanent-eentis removedfrom the playingsurface,ary cardsplacedoff to the sideunderit are
discarded.

Usuallythehostcardwill statesomemechaniadhataffectsthe cardsplacedoff to thesidewith it. Unless
statedotherwiseonits hostcard,a cardplacedoff to thesidewill giveits marshallingpointsto its owner.
However, the cardstypical with Middle-earth: Dark Minionsare“taking prisoners”cards,andcharacters
takenprisoneryield negative marshallingpoints.

THE UNDER-DEEPS

Note: Createdby streamsf moltenrock andexpandedby geothermakruptionsof superhot gas,the
Underdeepsare a resultof a combinationof naturaland supernaturaforces. The handof Morgoth
joinedwhatwasoncea collectionof countlesssundered¢caverncomplexes. His greatersenantsused
this mazeof tunnelsandchambergo travel surreptitiouslythroughoutEndor AlthoughEndorchanged
during the Elder Days, the core of the Underdeepssurvive. Thoughtravel betweenthe undeground
sitesis now difficult, if notimpossible,for all but the greatesi(and luckiest) explorers. Blocked or
twisting away from their original course,the Underdeepsseembroken. Junctionsand stronghold
seemlost. Many appearas simple cavesor side passagesjo longerresemblingtheir pastgrandeur
Otherslie hiddenbehindveils of rock. Nearlyall arestill there,though,awaiting discovery-asis their
creator

An Underdeepssite cardhas“Under-deeps’in the sectionthatnormally givesa site’s region, andits
namecontains'. ..-deeps’or “Under-...” An Underdeepssiteis justlike any othersitewith the
following exceptions:

¢ Unlike othersites,eachUnderdeepssiteis not consideredo bein aregion-insteadt is located
belown anothersite, calledthe Underdeepssite’s surfacesite

¢ Insteadof anearestaven,eachUnderdeepssitelists all of its “AdjacentSites: EachUnderdeeps
siteis adjacento its onesurfacesite anda numberof otherUnderdeepssites. Thefirst adjacent
sitelistedis alwaysthe Underdeepssite’s surfacesite.

¢ Eagle-mountsandGwaihir cannotbe usedto move to or from anUnderdeepssite.

e A compaty moving to and/orfrom anUnderdeepssite hasno site path. So,hazardsnayonly be
playedkeyedto thecompary’s new site.

e An ervironmentcardthatchangesitetype (e.g.,ChokingShadowsQuietLands etc.) cannotbe
usedto changehesitetype of anUnderdeepssite.

e Normally, whenyou successfullyplay anitem, faction,ally, or informationat a site,thesite cardis
tappedandoneadditionalcharactemaytapto play a minoritem. At anUnderdeepssite,you can
play ary item playableat the site insteadof this minor item.



e You may not considemarshallingoointsassociateavith acompaly atanUnderdeepssitefor the
purpose®f calling the FreeCouncil.

Example: LegolastapsandplaysGlamdring(a majoritem) at The Undergrottosandthe sitetaps. At
this point, Gimili couldonly tapto play a minoritem atanon-Undefdeepssite. But The Undergrottos
is anUnderdeepssite,so Gimili cantapto play anything playableat The Undergrottos:a minoritem,
amajoritem, or agoldring. He tapsandplaysa PreciousGold-ring.

Under-deepSite Movement

Oneof your companieshatbeginsits turn atthe surfacesite of an Underdeepssite canmaove normally or
it canmoveto its adjacenUnderdeepssite (i.e., the compary movesto anUnderdeepssitefrom its
surfacesite). Oneof your companiesghatbeginsits turn atan Underdeepssite may only move to oneof
theadjacensiteslistedonthe Underdeepssite card.

Eachadjacensiteis followedby anumberin parentheses-thisumberindicateshow difficult it is to move
from the Underdeepssiteto theadjacensite. Whenanadjacensiteis revealedby oneof your companies
whosesite of origin is anUnderdeepssite,you mustmake aroll (2D6). If theresultis greatetthanor
equalto thenumberin parenthese®llowing the adjacensiteaslistedonits site of origin, the
movement/hazarghaseproceedsiormally. Otherwisethe compaly returnsto its site of origin andthe
movement/hazarghaseproceedssif the compary hadnot moved.

Note: A compary moving from asurfacesiteto its Underdeepssite doesnot needto make aroll.
Example: A compaly thatstartsat CarnDim canmovenormallyor it canmoveto Thelron-deeps-Th¢
Iron-deepdists CarnDim asan adjacentsite. Similarly, a compaly thatstartsat The Iron-deepsnay
attemptto move to ary adjacentsite listed: CarnDUm (0), The Underleas(6), or The Undervaults
(7). However, aftercommittingto movementthe moving playermustroll a6 or betterto successfully
moveto The Underleasor a 7 or betterto successfullymove to The Undervaults.

MANIFEST ATIONS

Certainentities(e.qg.,the Balrog, Gollum, Lobelia, etc.) have several differentmanifestationseach
representedly a differentMECCGcard.

¢ If onemanifestatiorof suchanentityis alreadyin play, you may not play anothemanifestatiorof
the sameentity.

¢ If anattackfrom a manifestatioris defeatedthe manifestatioris removedfrom play andyou may
notplay ary furthermanifestation®f the sameentity.

Exception: Differentmanifestation®f the sameuniqueDragonmaybein play atthe sametime.
Note: If onecardsaysthatit is themanifestatiorof anothercard,theserestrictionsapplyto bothcards,
Example: Gollum(theally manifestatiorof Gollum)isin playwith oneof your charactersSo,neither|
you nor your opponentcan play My Precious(the agentmanifestationof Gollum) until Gollum is
discardedlf your Gollumis eliminated,My Preciousandyour opponents Gollum (if any) may never
beplayed.

TAKING PRISONERS

Certainhazardpermanent-eentscausea characteto betakenprisonerthesearecalledhazardhosts.A
charactetaken prisoneimmediatelyleaveshis original compaly andis placedunderits hazarchost“off
to theside”. Additionally, the playerplayingthe hazardhostmusttake a site cardfrom his locationdeck
andplaceit with the hazardhost-thisis calledtherescuesite. Playingarescuesiteis governedby the
following rules.

1. Any restrictiondistedon the hazardhostmustbe obsened(e.qg.,it mustbea Ruins& Lairs, must
have anOrc automatic-attacketc.).



2. If thehazardhostis playedon a charactemoving with region movementtherescuesite mustbea
sitelocatedin aregionin which the charactewasmoving or in aregion adjacento aregionin
whichthe charactewasmoving.

3. If thehazardhostis playedon a charactemoving with startermovementtherescuesite mustbe
locatedin theregion containingthe site of origin or thenew site.

4. If thehazardhostis playedon a charactenot moving, the rescuesite mustbelocatedin thesame
region asthe charactes site.

5. If thehazardhostis playedon a charactemoving to a new sitethatis anadjacensite of an
Underdeepssite, therescuesite canbethatUnderdeepssite.

6. If arescuesiteis notavailablewithin theserules,the hazardhostcannotbe played!
7. Whenremovedfrom the play surface rescuesitesalwaysreturnto thelocationdeck.

Whentaken prisoner a charactecannottake any actions(including healingor untapping)andcannotbe
affectedby ary cardsexceptfor thosethatspecificallyaffect charactersakenprisoner A charactetaken
prisoneris not controlled(i.e., doesnot useary influence),andall of his followersrevertto general
influence(whichmustbelegally reconciledduringhis player's next organizatiorphase) Any items,allies,
or eventscontrolledby a charactearediscardedvhenthe characteis takenprisonerunlesshehazard
hoststatestherwise As anexception,aring bornby animprisonedcharactestayswith thecharacter
While aprisoner acharacteyields negative charactemarshallingpointsequalto the marshallingpoints
henormallywould give. If eliminatedwhile imprisonedthecharacteyieldsthesenegative character
marshallingpointspermanentlyplacethe charactess cardin your marshallingpoint pile).

Rescueand the Rescue-attack

Hazardhoststhatcausea characteto betaken prisonemrequirea compaiy controlledby the playerof the
imprisonedcharacteto rescuehe charactein orderto returnhim to a normalstatusof play.
Alternatively, if the hazardhostis discardedy anon-rescuenechanisnie.g.,by MarvelsTold), the
characteformshis own compauy attherescuesite. At any point outsideof theinitial attackor conditions
by which a hazardhostis played,thehazardhostis discardedf thereareno imprisonedcharactersre
underit. Wheneer, the hazardhostis discardedthe rescuesite alwaysreturnsto thelocationdeck.

To rescuea characterthe compaly mustbe attherescuesite duringthe site phaseandmustfaceary
automatic-attackat the siteasnormal. The site canbe tappedor untappedThe compary mustnext face
ary rescue-attackat the site. Rescue-attackarenot considerediutomatic-attacks-ollowing the
rescue-attaclanuntappedharactein therescuingcompaly cantap,andall charactersakenprisoner
underthe hazarchostimmediatelyjoin the compaty undergenerainfluence(which mustbelegally
reconciledduringthe players next organizatiorphase)—theescueattemptis successfulThecompary’s
sitethentaps(if untapped)andoneminoritem maybe playedwith anuntappednemberof therescuing
compaly.

Note: If hehasoneavailable,a playermustusea sitefrom his own locationdeckto rescuamprisoned
characters.If he doesnot have the site or if the siteis in his discardpile, the copy with the hazard
hostcanbe usedto shav the rescuingcompaly’s movement(if the rescueattemptis successfulthe
sitewould remainin play until thecompaty leavesthesite). In this casethe siteis not availablefor the
rescuingplayerto usefor any purpose(otherthanto rescueprisonersand play one minor item) until

thecompary leavesthesite andhis play deckis exhausted.

AGENTS

An agenthasthe sameattributesasa characterrace,skills, directinfluence prowess pbody, mind,
marshallingpoints,andspecialabilities. During play, eachagentmustbein oneof thefollowing states:
face-devn anduntappedface-davn andtappedface-upanduntappedface-upandtappedor face-upand
wounded.

An agentcanbethoughtof asa hazad thatactsasa creaturewith thefollowing specialeffects:



¢ |t normallyremainsn play until it is eliminated.

e If usingthe minimumnumberof creaturesequirementi.e.,in the Councilof Lorientournament
rules)for a startingplay deck,eachagentonly countsashalf a creature.

e Thetotal of the mind attributesof all of youragentsin your play deckandsideboardnaynot
exceed36.

An agentis alwayslocatedat a site. Onceanagenthasbeenrevealedor hasmovedto a sitethatis notone
of its homesites,oneof your site cardsmustbe usedfor this purpose A face-upagents site cardmust
alwaysbeface-up.Agentsmove andoperatealone(i.e., they do not move andoperatein “companies”).
Eachagentis unigue—allnormalrulesapply. If a specificagentis in play face-upanda secondjdentical
agentis turnedface-up(i.e., it is revealed) the secondagentis immediatelydiscarded.

Untapping an Agent

Eachof your agentauntapsduringyour untapphase.

Playing an Agent

To play anagent placeit face-devn (anduntapped)Theagentis assumedo be at any oneof its home
sites(no site cardis required).

Agent Actions

Eachof your agentsvho wasalreadyin play atthe beginning of your opponentsturn maytake oneand
only oneof thefollowing actionseachturn.

e A tappedor untappedagentmay moveto a non-Haven,non-Underdeepssitein the sameregion or
in anadjacentegion (seebelow). Theagenttapsif notalreadytapped.

An agentmayreturnto its homesite (i.e., remove all of thesite cardson theagent).

An agentmaytapto male certaincreaturesplayableatits currentsite (seebelow).

A woundedagentmay heal(i.e., move from woundedstatusto tappedstatus).

A tappedagentmayuntap(i.e., move from tappedstatusto utappedstatus).
[NOTE: This rule doesnot appearin the rules insert with the boosterpacks. This rule is
correctand should be considered asthough it were printed in the rules insert.]

e An untappedface-upagentmay beturnedface-dowralongwith its site card.

Performingary oneof theseactionswith anagentcountsasoneagainsthe hazardimit. Theseactions
may only betakenduringyour opponents movement/hazarghase.

Note: Certaincardsallow anagentto take morethanoneactionduringa giventurn.

Moving an Agent (AgentAction)

Whenoneof youragentamoves,tapit andplaceits new site cardontop of theagentandary othersite
cardsalreadyontheagent(face-upf theagentis face-upface-davn if theagentis face-davn). If the
agentis face-upreturnto yourlocationdeckall site cardsotherthanthe new sitecard. Thus,thetop site
cardon anagentindicatesits currentsite.

Alternatively, you mayremove thetop site cardon aface-davn agent(i.e., it movesbackto its previous
site).

Note: If StarterRulesarebeingusedand/oryouarenotusingregion movementagentsnaynot move.




Revealingan Agent

You mayturn ary of yourface-devn agentface-up(i.e., revealthem)atany time duringyour opponents
movement/hazarghase This doesnt countasanagentactionasoutlinedabove and it doesnt count
againsthehazardimit. Alternatively, you mustrevealanagentwhenit attackswhenit makesan
influenceattempt,or whencertaincardsareplayed.

Note: Certainhazardcardsspecifythatanagentmusttapfor thecardto take effect. A face-devn agen
thattapsin this fashionmustberevealed(i.e., turnedface-up).

If oneof youragentds revealedbeforeit hasmoved,you mustimmediatelychoosewvhich homesiteit is
at-placethe appropriatesite cardwith theagent.If you do not have sucha sitecardin your locationdeck,
discardtheagentatthe endof the currentturn.

If oneof your agentds revealedafterit hasmoved,thefirst site cardthatwasplayedmustbe oneof its
homesitesor it mustbein the sameregion asoneof theagents homesitesor it mustbein aregion
adjacento aregionthatcontainsoneof the agents homesites.Any site cardotherthanthefirst site card
mustbein the sameregion asthe previoussite placedon theagentor it mustbein aregion adjacento the
regionthatcontainsthe previoussite placedontheagent.

If oneof youragents seriesof sitesindicatingits travel is illegal, theagenthasno effect. In addition,it is
immediatelydiscardecandary site cardsassociatedvith theagentarereturnedo your locationdeck.
Whenoneof your agentsandits site cardsarerevealed all site cardsotherthantheagents currentsite
cardarereturnedo yourlocationdeck(afterverifying thatthe pathof movementwaslegal).

Playing Creaturesat an Agent’s Site (AgentAction)

If oneof youragentsandoneof your opponents companiesarebothatthesameRuins& Lairs (L),
Shadev-hold (d), or Dark-hold(l), you maytapthe agentandthenattackthatcompaty with any
non-uniquehazardcreaturegregardlesf whatthey arekeyedto) of the samecreatureypeasthesite’s
automatic-attack.

If oneof youragentsaandoneof your opponents companiesarebothattheagents homesite,you maytap
theagentandthenattackthatcompaty with certainhazardcreaturegregardlessof whatthey arekeyed
to) baseduponthesitetype:

e Youmayplay Men, Dwarves,Elves,Dnedain,andHobbitsat Free-Holdq(s).

e Youmayplay Orcs,Nazdil, Men, Dwarves,Elves,Dnedain,andHobbitsat BorderHolds (i1).
e Youmayplay Orcs,Nazdll, andTrolls at Ruins& Lairs (k).

e Youmayplay Orcs,Nazdil, Undead andTrolls at Shadav-Holds (d).

e Youmayplay Orcs,Nazdil, andTrolls at Dark-Holds(H).

In eithercasejf acreaturds playedin this manneythe agentis revealed(if it wasnotalreadyrevealed).

Attacking With an Agent

During your opponents site phasegachof your agentamay attacka compary if thefollowing conditions
aremet:

e Theagentis atthe samesite asthe compaty.
e Thecompaly decidedo enterthesite.

This attackis declaredandenactedat the startof the site phas@mmediatelyfollowing arny
automatic-attackif face-devn, turntheagentface-up.

Note: Certaincards(e.g.,CunningFoes,To Get You Away, etc.) allow anagentata compaty’s new
siteto attacka compary duringthe movement/hazarghase.




ResolvingCombat With an Agent

Whenoneof your agentsattacksit is consideredo betheattader andit hasonestrike unlessmodified.
Combatwith anagentis handledik e any othercombatwith the following exceptions:

e Theprowessfor eachof the agents strikesis modifiedby aroll (2D6)-aseparateoll is madefor
eachstrike.

¢ A woundedagents prowessis modifiedby -2.
¢ If theagentis face-dowrnwhentheattackis declaredpneof thefollowing applies:

— If athishomesite, his prowessis modifiedby +5 for thatattackand his bodyis modifiedby
+1 and the attacler chooseslefendingcharacters.

— If notathis homesite, his prowessis modifiedby +2 for thatattack.
If aface-devn agentattacksastheresultof the play of a card,the agentis consideredo be
face-dovn whentheattackis declared.

¢ If theagentis face-upat his homesitewhenthe attackis declaredhis prowessis modifiedby +2
for thatattackand his bodyis modifiedby +1.

o After thecombattheagentremainsn play and it mustbeface-upandtappedor face-upand
wounded.

Note: Agentsarenot characters-yomaynot play resourcecardsto modify anagents prowess(e.g.,a
Risky Blow will notaffectanagents prowess).Hazardcardsaffectanagentattacknormally.

Example: During your opponents movement/hazarghasg MH-phase) you play Gisulf, countingas
one againstyour hazardiimit. He is placedface-devn andis consideredo startat arny of his home
sites:Woodmen-tavn, Lake-town, or Dale (your choicewheneer heis initially revealed).Gisulf may
not take anactionthis turn-hewasjust played. However, if oneof your opponents companiesvereto
move to oneof Gisulf's homesitesthisturn, Gisulf couldattackit duringits site phase.

During your opponents next MH-phase,his main compaly movesto Loérien. You decideto move
Gisulf to a site in the Anduin Valesso thathe is closerto moresitesreachabldrom Lorien. He can
do this becausaVoodmen-tavn is in WesternMirkw ood, which is adjacento Anduin Vales. One of
your own compaity’sis at Eagles Eyrie andFramslorg is in your discardpile, sothosecardsare not
availablefor Gisulfto use.Thus,Gisulf canonly moveto GladdenFieldsor Beorn's House.You move
him to GladdenFields(countsoneagainsthe hazardimit), tappinghim andplacingthatsite card(his
currentsite) face-devn on top of Gisulf. Maybeyour opponentwill try to getaring next turn.

Gisulf untapsduring your untapphase. During your opponents next MH-phase,his main compaty
revealsthatit is moving to Goblin-gate.SinceGoblin-gateis in High PassandHigh Passis adjacento
Anduin Vales,you move Gisulf to Goblin-gate-tappingiim andplacingyour Goblin-gatesite card(his
currentsite) face-devn on top of him.

At this point Gisulf is at the compaty’s new site andyou could play certainhazardcards: e.g., Seek
Without Succesgreturnsthe compary to its site of origin). Unfortunately you don't have ary of thesg
cardsin your hand.

Duringthesitephasethecompary entersGoblin-gateandfacesheautomatic-attackThen,youdecide
to attackthemwith Gisulf. He is turnedface-upandthesite cardson Gisulf arerevealedandchecled.
He traveled from Woodmen-tavn (his chosenstartinghomesite) in WesternMirkw ood to Gladden
Fieldsin Anduin Valesto Goblin-gatein High Pass.Eachof theseregionsis adjacento the previous
oneplayed,soGisulf movedlegally. The GladdenFieldssite cardis returnedo your locationdeckand
Goblin-gateis left face-upwith Gisulf.

Gisulf's prowessfor this attackis 7 (5 normal, +2 becauséhe was face-devn whenthe attackwas
declared).Elladanis untappecandis in thetargetcompairy, soyour opponenthoosesim to take the
attack.Elladans prowessis 5 (his normalprowessof 5 becausée decidego tap). You (Gisulf) roll an
eightfor atotal of 15, while your opponentolls a six for atotal of 11—Elladanis wounded.




Marshalling Points from Agents

Only your opponentanreceve marshallingoointsby defeatinganagentthatyou played.If you defeatan
agentthatyou played,it is remosedfrom thegameandno onerecevesits marshallingpoints.
Marshallingpointsfrom defeatinganagentcountaskill pointsnot ascharactepoints.

Influencing With an Agent

During your opponents movement/hazarghasecertaincardsandspecialabilitiesallow your agentgo
attemptto influenceallies, factions followers,andcharactersAfter aninfluenceattempttheagent
remainsface-upandin play.

To influenceanally, follower, or characterthe agentmustbe atthe new sitefor thetargetor atthetarget’s
currentsiteif thecompaty did notmove. To influenceafaction,theagentmustbe at the siteatwhich the
factionis playable.

To attemptto influencein this manneryour agentmustmake aninfluencecheckasoutlinedin section9
of the StandardRules.However, thefollowing exceptionsapply:

¢ Youragentsunusedlirectinfluenceandary othermodificationsareused(i.e., the agentis doing
theinfluencing,notacharacter).

¢ If youragentis at hishomesite his directinfluenceis modifiedby +2.

e Youcant useresourcegardsto helptheattempt(e.g.,you maynot revealanidenticalresource
card,you maynot usea Muster, etc.).

¢ If thetargetcharacter (or follower) hasthe samehomesiteastheagent treatthe charactess (or
follower’s) mind attribute aszeroand your agentsroll is modifiedby +2.

¢ If thetargetally is playableattheagents homesite,treattheally’s mind attribute aszeroand your
agentsroll is modifiedby +2.

¢ If thetamgetfactionis playableatthe agents homesite, treatthe numberrequiredto bring the
factioninto play aszeroandyour agentsroll is modifiedby +2.

CREATURES AS AUTOMATIC-ATTACKS

Any hazardcreatureyou play asanautomatic-attacks discardedf defeated-ifs not placedin your
opponents marshallingpoint pile.

Middle Earth: Dark Minionsis a setof expansioncardsfor Middle Earth: TheWzards a collectiblegameproduced
by IRON CROWN ENTERPRICES, INC, (ICE), Charlottesville Virginia, USA, the exclusive holderof theworldwide
adwenturegamedasedn J.R.R.Tolkien’s TheHobbitand TheLord of the Rings Copyright 1995,1996 TOLKIEN
ENTERPRISES, adevision of THE SAUL ZAENTZ COMPANY, Berkeley, C.A. All rightsresened.



